President Mark W. Pennak



WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF MARK W. PENNAK, PRESIDENT, MARYLAND SHALL ISSUE, AS INFORMATION WITH RESPECT TO SB 190 AND HB 415

I am the President of Maryland Shall Issue ("MSI"). Maryland Shall Issue is an allvolunteer, non-partisan organization dedicated to the preservation and advancement of gun owners' rights in Maryland. It seeks to educate the community about the right of self-protection, the safe handling of firearms, and the responsibility that goes with carrying a firearm in public. I am also an attorney and an active member of the Bar of the District of Columbia and the Bar of Maryland. I retired from the United States Department of Justice, where I practiced law for 33 years in the Courts of Appeals of the United States and in the Supreme Court of the United States. I am an expert in Maryland Firearms Law and the law of selfdefense. I am also a Maryland State Police certified handgun instructor for the Maryland Wear and Carry Permit and the Maryland Handgun Qualification License ("HQL") and a certified NRA instructor in rifle, pistol and personal protection in the home and outside the home and muzzle loading. I appear today as President of MSI to provide information with respect to SB 190 and HB 415.

While different (HB 415 is more extensive), both bills provide that "a person may not be denied the right to purchase, possess, or carry a firearm under this title solely on the basis that the person" is authorized to use medical cannabis under title 13, subtitle 33 of the Health – General Article of Maryland law. Like similar bills in the past, MSI takes no position with respect to the merits of these bills. However, as before, we do wish to point out some legal realities for purposes of informing the debate on these bills.

With the recent changes in Maryland law concerning medical marijuana, see MD Code, Health - General, § 13-3304 et seq., and the push to legalize the use of marijuana in Maryland, a recurring issue is how such marijuana use would affect Second Amendment rights. The short answer is that it may well act to abrogate those rights by (1) barring a FFL from selling a firearm to such a user and (2), by making such a user a prohibited person under federal law.

1. As to FFLs, the pertinent statutory provision under federal law is 18 U.S.C. 922(d)(3), which provides:

(d) It shall be unlawful for any person to sell or otherwise dispose of any firearm or ammunition to any person knowing or having reasonable cause to believe that such person--

* * *

(3) is an unlawful user of or addicted to any controlled substance (as defined in section 102 of the Controlled Substances Act (21 U.S.C. 802));

The ATF has issued a bulletin to all Federal Firearms Licensees that advises FFLs that "if you are aware that the potential transferee is in possession of a card authorizing the possession and use of marijuana under State law, then you have 'reasonable cause to believe' that the person is an unlawful user of a controlled substance." See Open Letter to All Federal Firearms Licensees, Sept. 21, 2011, available at <u>www.atf.gov/file/60211/download</u>. That means that the FFL (or any other person with such knowledge) is prohibited from selling a firearm to such a person with a medical marijuana card. This ATF prohibition has been sustained in federal court. *Wilson v. Lynch*, 835 F.3d 1083, 1093 (9th Cir. 2016), *cert. denied*, 137 S.Ct. 1396 (2017).

Moreover, the latest version of Federal Form 4473 (attached hereto in relevant part) continues to expressly ask if the purchaser is "an unlawful user of . . . any controlled substance" and states in bold type: "Warning: The use or possession of marijuana remains unlawful under Federal law regardless of whether it has been legalized or decriminalized for medicinal or recreational purposes in the state where you reside." A false statement or answer on Form 4473 is federal felony under 18 U.S.C. 922(a)(6) (barring material misrepresentations "in connection with the acquisition" of a firearm). See *Abramski v. United States*, 134 S.Ct. 2259 (2014). A violation of Section 922(a)(6) is punishable by up to 10 years in prison. See 18 U.S.C. 924(a)(2).

2. As to becoming a disqualified person, under federal law, a user of marijuana is a disqualified person under 18 U.S.C. 922(g)(3) which states:

(3) who is *an unlawful user* of or addicted to any controlled substance (as defined in section 102 of the Controlled Substances Act (21 U.S.C. 802)); to ship or transport in interstate or foreign commerce, or possess in or affecting commerce, any firearm or ammunition; or to receive any firearm or ammunition which has been shipped or transported in interstate or foreign commerce." (Emphasis added).

A violation of Section 922(d)(3) or Section 922(g)(3) is a federal felony, punishable with up to 10 years in prison. See 18 U.S.C. 924(a)(2). Both of these provisions define the term "unlawful user" by reference to the Controlled Substances Act, a federal law. A "controlled substance" under federal law specifically includes marijuana as marijuana is expressly classified as a Schedule I controlled substance under the Controlled Substances Act, 21 U.S.C. § 812(c). See also ATF regulations 27 C.F.R. § 478.11. Any use of marijuana makes a person an "unlawful user" under that federal law. Period.

Indeed, while the medical marijuana law of Maryland permits the use of marijuana under the circumstances specified in that law, the mere possession of marijuana in Maryland remains otherwise illegal in any other circumstance. See *Robinson v. State*, 451 Md. 94 (2017). That is so even though possession of small amounts of marijuana has also been decriminalized in Maryland. See *Robinson*, 451 Md. at 98 ("Simply put, decriminalization is not synonymous with legalization, and possession of marijuana remains unlawful."). Under the Supremacy Clause of the Constitution,

Article VI, Clause 2, these federal law provisions cannot be abrogated by State law. And they cannot be simply ignored, if only because every purchaser of a firearm from a FFL must fill out ATF Form 4473. As noted above, a false statement in filling out that form is a felony.

It is important to note that for years Congress has adopted an appropriations rider that prohibits the Department of Justice from spending funds to "prevent" the "implementation" of State medical marijuana laws. See, e.g., Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2016, Pub. L. No. 114-113, § 542, 129 Stat. 2242, 2332-33 (2015) (also known as the Rohrabacher–Blumenauer amendment). *McIntosh v. United States*, 833 F.3d 1163 (9th Cir. 2016). That amendment has been reenacted since then as an appropriations rider. This amendment was renewed and signed into law on December 27, 2020, effective through September of 2021. Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2021, PL 116-260, 134 Stat 1182 §531 (Dec. 27, 2020). As it is only an appropriation provision that prohibits the expenditure of the appropriated funds for these enforcement purposes, the prohibition must be renewed annually to remain effective. The underlying conduct (possession of marijuana) remains a federal crime.

Specifically, the enforcement bar imposed by this rider only extends to the expenditure of funds for prosecutions that "prevent" the "implementation" of medical marijuana laws. See United States v. Nixon, 839 F.3d 885 (9th Cir. 2016) (holding that the appropriations rider does not impact the ability of a federal district court to restrict a defendant's use of medical marijuana as a condition of probation). It does not address enforcement of federal gun laws, such as 18 U.S.C. §922, or ATF regulation of FFLs. See United States v. Bellamy, 682 Fed. Appx. 447 (6th Cir. 2017) (sustaining a felon-in-possession conviction under 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(3) for possession of a gun while being a user of medical marijuana). Enforcement of such gun laws does not "prevent" the "implementation" of medical marijuana laws; it simply means that medical marijuana users may not possess or purchase firearms. See *McIntosh*, 833 F.3d at 1178 (the rider "prohibits the federal government only from preventing the implementation of those specific rules of state law that authorize the use, distribution, possession, or cultivation of medical marijuana"). Congress could restore funding tomorrow (or the appropriation rider could lapse) and the government could then prosecute individuals who committed offenses while the government lacked funding. See *McIntosh*, 833 F.3d at 1179 n.5. The federal government can prosecute such offenses for up to five years after they occur. See 18 U.S.C. § 3282.

The question the Committee should ask itself is whether passage of this bill might mislead medical marijuana users into thinking that they may use and possess medical marijuana without any fear of losing their gun rights. Under federal law, that is not an assurance that the State is in a position to accord. For example, on a practical level, this bill, if enacted into law, could easily fool something into expending time and resources to acquire an HQL from the State Police only to find that all that time and money was wasted when the dealer refuses to complete the sale because the person cannot honestly complete ATF Form 4473. That has actually happened. The HQL is useless.

Sincerely,

Mart W. Fenne

Mark W. Pennak President, Maryland Shall Issue, Inc. mpennak@marylandshallissue.org

U.S. Department of Justice Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives

WARNING: The information you provide will be used a firearm. Certain violations of the Gun Control Act, 18 U \$250,000 fine. Any person who exports a firearm withou Department of State, as applicable, is subject to a fine of the	U.S.C. 921 et. seq., are punishable a proper authorization from eith	e by up to 10 years imprisonment and/or up her the Department of Commerce or the		on Seria	1
Read the Notices, Instructions, and Definitions on this temporarily conducted from a qualifying gun show or ever qualifies under 18 U.S.C. 922(c). All entries must be had	ent in the same State in which the	e premises is located) unless the transaction	INT.		
Section A - Must Be Comp	leted By Transferor/Seller B	efore Transferee/Buyer Completes Sect	tion B		
1. Manufacturer and Importer (if any) (If the manufacturer and importer are different, include both.)	2. Model (if designated)	3. Serial Number	4. Туре	5. Caliber Gaug	r or
1.					
2.					
3.					
 Total Number of Firearms to be Transferred (Plear one, two, etc. Do not use numerals.) 	se spell total number e.g.,	 Check if any part of this transaction Record Line Number(s) From Quest Check if this transaction is to facilitation 	ion 1:		
9. Transferee's/Buyer's Full Name (If legal name conta	First Name	followed by "IO" in quotes. If no middle initia Middle Name	al or name, record "N	MN".)	
	City	State ZIP Code	County/Parish/Bor	ough	
11. Place of Birth U.S. City and State -OR- Foreign Court	In	(lbs.) Male Month Female Non-Binary	Day Yes		
16. Social Security Number (optional, but will help pro	event misidentification) 17.	Unique Personal Identification Number (U Database Identification (AMD ID) (if app		inagemei	nt
Hispanic or Latino American Indian Not Hispanic or Latino Asian 19. Country of Citizenship: (Check/List more than United States of America (U.S.A)	n or Alaska Native Black Nativ Nativ One, if applicable. Nationals o Other Country/Countries (Specie	ify):	White		_
20. If you are an alien, record your U.Sissued alien of					
 Answer the following questions by checking or r Are you the actual transferee/buyer of the firearm Warning: You are not the actual transferee/b not the actual transferee/buyer, the licensee ca firearm(s) for another person, you are not require 	n(s) listed on this form and any uyer if you are acquiring the annot transfer the firearm(s)	<pre>/ continuation sheet(s) (ATF Form 5300.9 firearm(s) on behalf of another person to you. Exception: If you are only picking</pre>	. If you are	Yes 1	
 Are you under indictment or information in any of than one year, or are you a current member of the Justice and whose charge(s) have been referred to 	e military who has been charge o a general court-martial?	ed with violation(s) of the Uniform Code	of Military		
c. Have you ever been convicted in any court, inclu imprisoned you for more than one year, even if y			e could have		
d. Are you a fugitive from justice?					
 e. (Are you an unlawful user of, or addicted to, marijua (Warning: The use or possession of marijuana rema for medicinal or recreational purposes in the state who have a state of the stat	ains unlawful under Federal law				

	Yes	No	
f. Have you ever been adjudicated as a mental defective OR have you ever been committed to a mental institution?			
g. Have you ever been discharged from the Armed Forces under dishonorable conditions?			
h. Are you subject to a court order, including a Military Protection Order issued by a military judge or magistrate, restraining you from harassing, stalking, or threatening your child or an intimate partner or child of such partner?			
i. Have you ever been convicted in any court of a misdemeanor crime of domestic violence, or are you or have you ever been a member of the military and been convicted of a crime that included, as an element, the use of force against a person as identified in the instructions?			
j. Have you ever renounced your United States citizenship?			
k. Are you an alien illegally or unlawfully in the United States?			
21.1.1. Are you an alien who has been admitted to the United States under a nonimmigrant visa?			
21.1.2. If you are such an alien do you fall within any of the exceptions stated in the instructions? (U.S. citizens/nationals leave 21.1.2. blank) I certify that my answers in Section B are true, correct, and complete. I have read and understand the Notices, Instructions, and Definitions o			
4473. I understand that answering "yes" to question 21.a. if I am not the actual transferee/buyer is a crime punishable as a felony under Fede and may also violate State and/or local law. I understand that a person who answers "yes" to any of the questions 21.b. through 21.k. is prohib receiving or possessing a firearm. I understand that a person who answers "yes" to question 21.1.1. is prohibited from receiving or possessing a unless the person answers "yes" to question 21.1.2. and provides the documentation required in 26.d. I also understand that making any false written statement, or exhibiting any false or misrepresented identification with respect to this transaction, is a crime punishable as a felony un law, and may also violate State and/or local law. I further understand that the repetitive purchase of firearms for the purpose of resale for live profit without a Federal firearms license is a violation of Federal law.	bited fr a firear oral or der Feo	rom rm, r dera	
22. Transferee's/Buyer's Signature 23. Certification Date Month Day Y	/ear		
Section C - Must Be Completed By Transferor/Seller Prior To The Transfer Of The Firearm(s)			
24. Category of firearm(s) to be transferred (check or mark all that apply): 25. If sale or transfer is at a qualifying gun show or event:			
Handgun Long Gun Other Firearm (frame, receiver, etc.) Name of Function:		_	
shotgun) City, State: 26.a. Identification (e.g., Virginia driver's license (VA DL) or other valid government-issued photo identification including military ID.)			
Issuing Authority and Type of Identification Number on Identification Expiration Date of Identification (if Month 26.b. Supplemental Government Issued Documentation (if identification document does not show current residence address or full legal name			
26.c. Official Military Orders Establishing Permanent Change of Station (PCS): PCS Base/City and State: PCS Effective Date: PCS Order Number (if any):			
26.d. Exception to the Nonimmigrant Alien Prohibition: If the transferee/buyer answered "yes" to 21.1.2. record the type of documentation sh exception to the prohibition and attach a copy to this ATF Form 4473:	nowing	, the	
27.a. Date the transferee's/buyer's identifying information in Section B was transmitted to NICS or the appropriate State agency: 27.b. The NICS or State transaction number (if provided) was provided was transmitted to NICS or the appropriate State agency: Month Day Year			
27.c. The response initially provided by NICS or the appropriate State agency was: 27.d. Prior to transfer the following response(s) was/were late by NICS or the appropriate State agency: Proceed Delayed Denied [The firearm(s) may be transferred on if State law permits (optional)] Cancelled (date) No response was provided within 3 business days.	er provi		
27.e. After the firearm was transferred, the following response was provided by NICS or the appropriate State agency (if applicable) on: (date). Proceed Denied Cancelled			
27.f. Name and Brady identification number of the NICS examiner. (optional) 27.g. Name of FFL Employee Completing NICS check.	(optic	onal)	
(name) (number)			